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Neill-Turner-Lester House, Catawba County, N.C.

6. Functlon or Use

Historic Functions (enter categories from instructions) Current Functions (enter categories from instructions)
Domestic: single dwelling Domestic: single dwelling

7. Description

Architectural Classification Materials (enter categories from instructions)
(enter categories from instructions)

foundation stone
Federal walls weatherboard
Ttalianate

roof asphalt

other wood

Describe present and historic physical appearance.

The Heill-Turner—Lester House +is a two-story frame dwelling
with an unusual architectural history. Believed to have been
budilt  +4An the first quarter of the nineteenth century during the
ownership of Willdiam Neill, the house retains some of the most
impressive Federal style interior detailing in Catawba County.
Around 1889, Charles Henry Lester, the county's first architect,
remodelled the house, adding rooms and creating the Italianate-
inspired classical exterior seen today. At the same time, Lestenr
apparently respected the quality and elegance of the Federal
interiors, for he preserved most of that detailing and reproduced
some of it for use in his alterations so that they would be
compatible with the original character of the house. The Neilli-
Turner-lLester House 1is one of only three dwellings remaining 1in
Catawba County known to have been designed or remodelled by

Lester. (The other two are the T. F. Connor House, Tisted on the
National Register as part of the Terrell Historic District, and
the M. A. Sherrill House, near Sherrill, which 48 being nominated

with this Multiple Property Listing.)

The MNeill-Turner—Lester House ("A" on the attached Sketch
Map) 1is JTocated off SR 1836 near Sherrills Ford in eastern Cataw-
ba County. A Tong, winding Tane bordered by woods and cultivated
fields Teads to the house, which faces southeast in 1ts quiet
rural setting which for the purposes of this nomination is Timit-
ed to the vard immediately surrounding the house. This boundary
house s surrounded by Targe oak and cedar trees. Bevond the
immediate vard, the Tand slopes graduaily downward to the river
(not visible from the house).

Originally the Neili-Turner—-Lester House was a rectangular
structure ~- three bays wide and one room deep with shed room and
porch on the rear -— with gable roof, exterior end chimneys and
small entrance portico. While many of these features remain, the
present exterior appearance of the house owes Targely to the
remodelling efforts of C. H. Lester in the Tate nineteenth cen-—
tury. Italianate classicism superseded the earlier Federal style
appearance. The house s still three bays wide with the main

body being one room deep, but has expanded beyond the original

See continuation sheet
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configuration. Now a one-story classical porch, with shed roof,
Dordic posts, full entablature and pedimented projecting center
bay, occupies the full JTength of the southeast facade. A 1952
photograph shows that the porch then had a fancy sawnwork balus-
twade,1 but that had been removed by 1970, the wooden porch fTlioor
replaced with concrete, and the whole porch encliosed with screen-
g . Projecting above the center bay of the porch is a second
story room with [talianate pedimented windows of four-over-four
sash with pilastered surrounds. The house 1is flanked on north-
east and southwest by the original Flemish bond brick chimneys
with handsome ramped shoulders and banded caps. The east. end

chimney on the original section of the house was cracked by an
18486 earthquake and an iron rod has since been attached for

reinforcement. A two-story wing projects from the rear (north-
wast) center bay of the house and slopes downward to one-story
hedight on the southwest end, incorporating the original reanr
porch. Bevond this wing and the original rear shed room 1s a
one-story rear ell, added by Lester, with gablie roof, enclosed
porch on the southwest side and common bond brick chimney on the
northeast side. The exterior of the house also features weather-
board siding, a& gabled roof with overhanging bracketed eaves, a
stone pier foundation now infilled with cinderbiocks, nine-over-

rmine sash windows on the first story, nine-over-six sash on the
second story, and six-Tight windows in each gable with outside
upper corners clipped to accommodate the siope of the roof. What
appear to be original Touvered shutters with wrought iron strap
hinges remain on the fTirst story windows, while the second story
windows apparently never had shutters. The six—-panel front door
with four-Tight transom remains fintact. Front door and windows
all have double-faced casings with beaded +inner edges and molded
backbands .

The Hdnter+ior of the Neill-~Turner-Lester House s simple 1in
form but elegantily sophisticated in detail. The original Federal
style appearance of the interior remains Targely 1intact. The
major changes made by C. H. Lester 1in his Tate ninsteenth century
remodelling 1include the removal of the original stairway, the
addition of a partition on the second floor to create a center
nall, the addition of the second floor center bay front room for

use as his office, the enclosure of the back porch along with the
addition of the two-story rear wing to create the present
stairway to the second floor, and the addition of the one-story
rear ell for kitchen and (eventually) bathroom.

The five rooms (including the rear shed room) of the origi-
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nal halli-and-parior plan house are treated in similar fashion.

Walls and ceilings are flush-sheathed, and six-panel doors and
paneied wainscot remain in all the rooms. Some of the original
hardware, e.g. box TJocks and wrought iron strap hinges, are
intact. Originally all, or most, of the woodwork was grained or
marbied, but nearly all of this was painted over 1n the mid
twentieth century. Only the door and wainscot of the shed room

arnd the second story northeast room mantel retain their fancy
grained and stiplied surfaces.

The first Floor northeast room is ddentified as the ® most
prominent room in the house by Yts Targe size and dentiled cor-

nice. ATT other rooms have a more simple molded cornice. The
original stairway -- now removed -« rose from back to front along
the southwest partition wall. Another notable feature of this

room is the nine-over-nine sash "window"” on the northwest wall.
It has mirrored rather than c¢liear glass panes and balances the
real window on the front wall.

Perhaps the most outstanding interdior feature of the Neijll-
Turner-Lester House 1is the collection of three original mantels,
{There had been four, however, the mantel 1in the upstairs north-
east bedroom has been removed recently.) each an 1impressive
display of the Federal style. The two first story mantels are
the Targest and the most ornate of the four. While these two are
gimilar 1in  many ways, they differ in some of their detailing.
Each +ds a tripartite mante]l with heavily molded and bloaked
mantel shelf and paneled and blocked frieze whose recessed panels
have quarter-circle cut-outs in the corners and whose raised

bhlocks are ornamented with similar fan or Teaf-Tike motifs. The
northeast room mantel has siender turned colonettes flanking the
firebox, while +in the southwest room pairs of slender fluted
pilasters flank the firebox. Each of the mantels has fluted
bands arranged in different ways. The smaller and sTlightly Tess
elaborate mantel of the second floor relates in design to its
corresponding mantels on the first floor. It is & tripartite
mantel with heavily molded and blocked mantel shelf and frieze
with fluted raised blocks and plain recessed panels. This mantel

in the southwest room has fluted pilasters.

Ot her interior features 1nclude a moderrn kitchen, bathroom
and  pantry in the first story ell and a transverse stairhall
behind the southwest room which Teads to the second floor. The

rear of the second filoor includes the Tate nineteenth century
stairway, two closets, and the encliosed stair to the attic, which
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is entered from the transverse hall and protrudes +into the south-
waest front room. The second floor partition which architect
Lester added in the late nineteenth century removes space Trom
the northeast room to create a center hall. It dupiicates the
paneled wainscot of the other walls. An enlarged doorway near
the front of the hall Teads to the southwest room, and the room
that. served as Lester's office (he had another office in States-
viTle) 418 entered from the front end of the hall. With +its tall
four—-over—-four sash windows on three sides, this office room s
Tight and airy (and must have been a pleasant place 1in which to
work. ) While the original wide board flooring remains on the
second story, that of the first story was covered during the mid
twentieth century with narrow board oak fliooring.

No outbuildings of significance remain with the Neilli-Turn-
er~Lester House today. Sharing the house Tot with the house is a
modern mobilie howe (B, noncontributing).

1Cyri7 Long Mebane, "07d Turner Home Near Sherrilis Ford One
of First in Catawba County," The Newton Observer, June 23, 1952.




Neill-Turner-Lester House, Catawba County, N.C.
8. Statement of Significance
Centifying official has considered the significance of this property in relation to other properties:

[ Inationally [Istatewide locally

Applicable National Register Criteria  [_JA [X|B [X]Jc []bp

Criteria Considerations (Exceptions) [ _JA []8 [Jc [Jo [Je [JF [Ja

Areas of Significance (enter categories from instructions) Period of Significance Significant Dates
“Architecture ca. 1820; ca. 1877- ca. 1927 ca. 1820
; 1889

Cultural Affiliation

N/A

Significant Person Architect/Builder
v Lester, Charles Henry Lester, Charles Henry

State significance of property, and justify criteria, criteria considerations, and areas and periods of significance noted above.

Summary .

The Meill-Turner—Lester House is a unigque circa 1820 Federal

style frame farmhouse built by early settler William Neill, which
in the JTate nineteenth century was owned and renovated by Catawba
County's first architect, Charles Henry Lester. The house s
Tocated near Sherrilli's Ford, on the banks of the Catawba
River/Lake Norman in southeast Catawba County. Will+iam Neill and
his son William were typical antebellum fTarmers, as was Fielding
Turner, who purchased the farm in 1850. Turner's daughter Susan
married the architect Lester, a native of Connecticut, 1in 1877,
and she inherdited the house and farm. In 1889 Lester remodelied

the house, adding an [talianate Revival style front porch sup-
porting a central second story gabled office room for himself,
while retaining the important Federal features of the house. The
house 1is significant under Criterion B bacause it was the princi-
pa’l residence and office of noted Catawba County architect
Charies Henry Lester from circa 1877 throughout his productive
career, which ended circa 1827. The house 1is significant wunder
Criterion C both as a significant example of Federal style archi-
tecture 1in Catawba County and for 1its [talianate Revival remo-—
detling circa 1889 (Property Type: "Houses of Catawba County:
Antebellum & Postbellum.) The interior is particularly noteworthy for its
Federal detailing including panelled wainscot (some retaining original grained
and stippled surfaces), dentilled and molded cornices and elaborate tripartite
mantelpieces.

[ESee continuation sheet
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Histortical Background

The Neill-~Turner—-Lester House is Tocated near Sherrilli's
Ford in the Mountain Creek Township of southeast Catawba County.
Situated only a few hundred vards from the Catawba River, it s
one of the few ancestral homes 1n the area not lost to the waters
of Lake Norman in 1963. The oldest and central section of the
present structure, probably built around 1820 by Willdiam Ne+ill,
18 a two-story Federal style plantation house with end chimnheys.
In 1889 the house was significantiy altered with the addition of
saveral rear rooms, a full~Tength front porch with cladsical
details, and & gable-roofed second-story room over the porch.
Charles Henry Lester, Catawba County’'s first architect and then a
resident of the house, was responsibie for the renovations.
lL.ester’'s daughter and son-in-law have occupied the house 1n
recent vyears.

It s dimpossibie to determine the original construction date
with any certainty from available records. Some accounts have
suggested that the house may have been built around 1770 (thus
making 1t one of the oldest houses +in the county).7 Yet the
archtectural style and an examination of +its fabric indicate that
it was constructed around 1820. William Neill (also spelied as
Neil or Nail) owned the property during those vyears. He had
patented several grants in the vicinity of the Catawba River as
early as 1785 and had acquired other tracts by puhchase.2 On
November 29, 1809, he married Elizabeth Neil.® Thus, it ds a
reasonable assumption that the house was built 1n the vears after
his marriage when his family began to grow 1in size. Neill was a
small farmer; he owned six slaves in 1810 and nine 1in 1820.%
Upon his death +in 1829 Neill provided that his widow should
receive various personal +dtems including kitchen furniture and
beds, plus $100 for "the good maintenance of the plantation I now
Tive on." He Teft various combinations of Tland, cash, and other
items to his children. To his son and namesake WilTliam he Jeft
"the tract of Tand I now Tive on 1n Lincoln [now Catawba] County
and his choice of three Negroes," plus farming tools, a wagon,
and half of his household furniture.®

The vyounger William Neill was also a farmer, though on a
scale somewhat Targer than his father. He owned fourteen slaves
in 1830 and nine 1n 1840, a year in which he paid tax on 260
acres.® In addition to the Tand he had received from his father
Neill had a ten—acre disland in the Catawba River, since known as
Net Tl island, by way of a Tand grant from the state 1in 1830. ¢
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Neill's agricultural pursuits were typical of the yeoman farmer
of the antebellum period, vet his budgeting of the proceeds
apparently was inadeguate. In 1848 he had accumuliated & $1,9899

debt which he could not pay. As a result the Catawba County
sheriff sold his 260 acres 1in the following vear to the highest

bidder .8

Fielding Turner- (1814-1866) purchased the property on April
8, 1850, for a price of $3,015.50. Although other members of the
Turner family were involved 1in textiles, notably Columbus Lafay-
ette Turner with his operations upstream at Monbo and Long fsiand
in  the postwar vears, Fielding Turner was strictily a farmer.
Even before he purchased Neill's property he ran a sizable farm-
ing operation. In 1840 he paid tax on 200 acres and three
slaves. 1V In 1860 he estimated the value of his newly—acquired
260 acres at $4,000; his fourteen slaves were adjudged a value of
$5,930. He cultivated 100 of those acres, with plantings of
corn, wheat, and a small amount of cotton. He kept some Tive-
stock, principally sheep, swine, and cattle.!! Fielding Turner
and his wife, the former Paulina Ward (18147-18307), had s1ix
children, three daughters and three sons. Their oldest daugh-
ters, Jane and Nancy, married into the Shufords and Sherrills,
two Tocally prominent Ffamilies. Their oldest son, Josephus
(1841-1894), enlisted as private +in Company A of the Twelfth
Regiment of North Carolina troops, known as the "Catawba Rifles,"
in 1861.12 Following his discharge in 1863 (for unaccounted
reasons ), he studied medicine. He was the only practicing physi-
c¢ian  in the Sherrill's Ford area during the latter part of the
nineteenth century. '3 He apparently remained single and contin-
ued to Tive with his mother and stister Susan for much of that
time. Im 1889 he served a single term in the state senate.
Fielding Turner’'s second son John (1843-1863) enlistad +in Company
C of the Twenty-Eighth Regiment, comprised entirely of Catawba

soldiers, in 1861. He died of injuries received at Spotsylvania,
Virginia, 1in 1863.1° Fielding Turner’s remaining son, Alonzo,
was too young for the war and was, Tike his father, a farmenr.

The family's youngest, Susan (1855-1828), married Charles Henry
Lester and dinherited the homeplace following the death of her
father in 1866 and of her mother around 18390.

Fielding Turner's death came at the age of fifty-two, near
the end of the year 1866. With the division of his estate 1n
January 1867, each of the surviving children received a tract of
TJand with cash compensation to account for any differences 1n
value. Susan Turner received the house and JTot of 140 acres with
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an estimated value of $1,500. 16 However, 1t 1s apparent that her
mother Paulina retained ownership through her Tifetime. In  the
1870s and 1880s she was annually taxed on 148 acres with a value
of from $1,550 to $2,050. In addition she also paid taxes on two
houses, two mules, four or five heads of cattie, and about ten
hogs . About 100 acres of the farm were cultivated by either
family members or renters with piantings primariiy in corn and
wheat as well as an acre each of apple and peach trees. The
exact date of Paulina Turner's death was not determined; however
her name droppgd from tax JTists aftter 1830 when she was +in her
mid-seventies. ‘

Charles Henry Lester (24 May 1849-1840) married Susan Turner

on January 24, 1877. Born in New London, Connecticut, he came to
Catawba County 1in 1872. Generally regarded as Catawba County’'s
first architect, Lester was responsible fTor building many homes
in the county in the Tate nineteenth century. He also built the
cotton mill at Monbo, the school at Sherrill’s Ford, and the Hub
Theater in Hickory, as well as buildings in Statesville (where he
kept a second office), Winston, and at Davidson CoTTege.‘s
Lester did not describe himself as an "architect," a term which
as used today would not describe the work he did. His descrip-

tion of himself as a "house carpenter” +in the 1880 censug and a
"brick contractor” in the 1900 Tisting give a better approxima-
tion of his work.!9

The first of Charles and Susan Lester's six children was
born in 1878, and the Tast +in 1886. Thus the enlargement of the
house in circa 1889 was carried out, 1in part, to provide space
for their growing family. In addition, Lester built for himself
a home office over the fulli-Tength porch (in recent years 1t has
been screened 1in). Other renovations +included a new stairway to
the second floor and the construction of several rooms to the
rear of the house, among them the first inside kitchen (the out-
building formerly used for that purpose was destroyed 1in the
1930s). Lester called the place "Five Oaks" after the Targe trees
which provide the house with abundant shade. A few vears after
the death of his mother—-in-Tlaw Pauliina Turner, C. H. Lester paid
taxes on 148 acres valued at $1,600.20 Susan Lester died at the
age of seventy-three in 1928 and Teft all her property to her
husband.

C. H. Lester's productive years were sgpent designing a
variety of buildings in Catawba County, however, exact dates on
many of these are not available. It is known that he buiit the
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Sherrilis Ford School 1in 1822, when he was 73 years old, and s

heldieved to have built the Balls Creek School in 1827. These are
presumably some of the Jast buildings for which he was responsi-
bie. He continued to Tive in his house, later +in his Tife shar-

ing it with his daughter and her husband until his death in 1940
at the age of ninety-one.

Lina Lester, the voungest child of C. H. and Susan Lester,
born in March 1896, married Albert Setzer in 1925. In 1829 the
alder Lester sold them the ten-acre +island 1in the Catawba River.
Presumably they were not consigned to dwell on it but were al-

Towed to Tive in the main house. Albert Setzer, member of an
established Catawba County family, cultivated parts of the farm
until his Tater years. He was also a fox hunter and raised
champion hounds on the phoperty.22 In 1941 Albert and Lina
Setzer received from the other heirs of C. H. Lester all rights
to the property.<? The Setzers were residents of the house

through the 19%0s.
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FOOTNOTES
lcatawba Weekender, 30 April 1965. The name of Scruggins (or
Scroggins) has also been associated with the house. Yet an

examination of census records and deed books for Lincoln (Tater
Catawba) County 1in the JTate eighteenth and early nineteenth
centuries turned up no one 1in the area bhy that name.

2 4ncoln County Land Grants, North Carolina State Archives,

and Lincoin County Deed Book 18, p. 377. The WiTliam “Netil]
appearing 1in the 1790 census of Lincoln County with a wife and
two sons may be the father of the man in question. Heads = of
Families at the First Census of the United States Taken 1in_ the
Year  1790: North Carolina (Baltimore: Genealogical Publishing

Co., 1973y, 111.

3LincoTn  County Marriage Bonds, North Carolina State Ar-

4Third and Fourth Censuses, 1810, 1820,
SLincoln County Will Book 1, p. 156.

SEifth  and Sixth Censuses, 1830, 1840; LincoTn County Tax
Records, North Carolina State Archives.

Tl.incon County Land Grants, Book 6, p. 457.
SCatawba County Deed Book 3, p. 630.

Son  C¢. L. Turner and his textile mills, see Hickory. DRaily
Record, 25 August 1965,

10 incoln County Tax Records, North Carolina State Archives.

11Eﬁghth Census, 1860, Population, S$Tave, and Agricultural
Schedules.

el A Roster (Raleigh: Division of Archives and History,

12Weymouth T. Jordan, Jr. (comp.), Morth Carolina Troops,
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13Levi Hranson (comp.), Branson’'s North Carolina Business

Directory (Raleigh: Branson and Farrar, 1869-1880), 1868, p. 35;

1884, p. 201; and 1890, p. 174.

T4john .. Cheney (ed.), North Carolina Government, 1585-
1874: A Narrative and Statistical History (Raleigh: Secretary of

State, 1975), 467.

Daily. Record, 14 July 1865. On Company C of the Twenty-Eighth

Regiment, see George W. Hahn (ed.), The Catawba Soldier of the
Civil War (Hickory: Clay Printing Co., 1811), 166-172.

16catawba County Estates Records, Fielding Turner folder,
North Caroliina State Archives; Catawba County Deed Book 6, p.
69, and Minute Docket Book 1, p. 316.

Tcatawba County Tax Records, North Carolina State Archives;
Tenth Census, 1880, Population and Agricultural Schedules.

T8Newton News—Enterprise, 14 May 1979; Hickory Daily. Re-
cord, 14 July 1865. Among the Catawba houses which Lester bhuilt
was Monbo Heights, the home of textile mill founder C. L. Turner.
Described as "the fTocal point of area society at the turn of the
century," the house Tater burned. Turner’'s Monbo Millis were

complietely destroved by the 1916 flood of the Catawba River.

19Tenth and Twelfth Censuses, 1880, 1900, Population Sched-
dles. An exhibit featuring C. H. lester's tools and suppiies was
held at the Catawba County Histordical Museum in 1879.

20catawba County Tax Records, North Carolina State Archives.
lLester was also taxed on his Tibrary, tools, furniture, and gun
in the 1890s.

2lcatawba County Will Book 5, p. 47. C. H. Lester Tlast paid
taxes in 1835. In that vear, however, the tax Tlists ndicate
that his son—-in-Taw Albert Setzer had assumed the responsibility
of paying a portion of the tax.

617 ; and

O
N>
L
o

23catawba County Deed Books 314, p. 543;
178, p. 5H7.
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10. Geographical Data
Acreage of property Less than one (1) acre.
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DSee continuation sheet

Verbal Boundary Description 1he Neill-Turner-Lester House lot follows the fence line delineating
the rectilinear house yard. Specifically, begin at the West corner of the fence; then
turn Northwest, go 211 feet; then turn Northeast, go 173 feet; then turn Southeast, go
211 feet; then turn Southwest, go 173 feet (following across the driveway in a straight
line where there is a gap in the fence line) to the beginning point, which is the west

corner of the fenced yard. . .
[ ]see continuation sheet

Boundary Justification

The boundaries are drawn to include the immediately surrounding yard as setting for
the historic resource and to exclude noncontributing outbuildings on associated acreage.

[ ]see continuation sheet
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Sectlon number _Photos Page 1 Neill-Turner-Lester House, Catawba Co., NC

Except as otherwise noted, the following pertains to all photographs:

1)
2)
3)
4)
5)

A.

Neill-Turner-Lester House

Sherrills Ford vicinity, North Carolina

Laura Phillips

March 1983

North Carolina Division of Archives and History, Raleigh, NC

3) Barbara Kooiman
4) June 1989

6) Exterior, north

6) Exterior, northwest (Note: shed in background has been replaced by mobile home.)
3) F. Bogue Wallin

4) Aprdil 1979

6) Exterior, west

6) First floor, northeast room, mantel

6) Second floor, southwest room, mantel

6) Wainscot and door of shed room

6) Second floor hallway

NOTE: Most of the photos used in this nomination were taken in 1983 and 1979. All
resources have been thoroughly field checked by Barbara Kooiman in 1989 and, with
the exception of untended foliage and weathering of exterior surfaces as shown in
photo A, have been determined to be unchanged from their appearance and condition
portrayed in photographs taken prior to 1989.
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